THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2016-001525

**RECEIVED**

FEB 01 2017

**SC Court of Appeals**

Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

Judith H. Parham, Personal Representative  
of the Estate of David Michael Parham,  
deceased and Parham & Smith, LLC,

Respondents.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

January 31, 2017

F. Milton Mann, Jr., Esquire  
151 Harold Fleming Court  
Spartanburg, SC 29303  
(864) 680-5079  
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Court of Common Pleas err in granting Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment respecting Appellant's claims for Abuse of Process and Malicious Prosecution Causes of Action for lack of evidence concerning Respondents' liability to Appellant?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Lower Court action was commenced on March 20, 2014, when Appellant filed a Summons and Complaint initiating claims for Abuse of Process and Malicious Prosecution against Respondent Judith H. Parham, Personal Representative of the Estate of David Michael Parham, Deceased (hereinafter “Parham”) in the Pickens County Court of Common Pleas seeking damages, along with attorneys’ fees and costs, arising as a result of alleged wrongdoings in a medical malpractice action captioned John L. Bruce and Marilyn Bruce v. Greenville Pharmaceutical Research, Inc. and Alliance Biomedical Group, filed in the Court of Common Pleas for Greenville County, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, case number 2011-CP-23-6967. On May 4, 2012, a Stipulation of Dismissal of Appellant with Prejudice was entered.

On June 19, 2014, Appellant filed an Amended Complaint naming Gerald H. Sokol, M.D., as a Defendant as to Fraud and Negligence Per Se causes of action. Respondent Parham served Appellant with a Motion to Dismiss on or about July 31, 2014. Appellant was served with Defendant Sokol’s Motion to Dismiss on August 6, 2014 and his Amended Motion to Dismiss on August 14, 2014. On October 2, 2014, Appellant filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Amend Complaint and Appellant’s Memorandum in Opposition to Respondents’ Motions to Dismiss. A hearing on the Motions to Dismiss was held on October 2, 2014 before the Honorable Steven H. John. An Order dated October 15, 2014 by the Honorable Steven H. John denying Parham’s Motion to Dismiss, finding Parham & Smith, LLC (“P&S”) an indispensable party, and allowing Appellant to amend. Appellant was served with Respondent Parham’s Answer to the First Amended Complaint on or about October 17, 2014, along with Respondent Parham’s First Interrogatories and First Requests for Production to Appellant. Appellant’s Second Amended Complaint was filed on November 3, 2014, adding P&S as a

Defendant. Respondents served their Answer to the Second Amended Complaint on December 19, 2014.

Respondents' discovery sought information protected by attorney client and work product privileges, which were objected to by the Appellant. Appellant served its Responses to Interrogatories and Responses to Request for Production on Respondents on April, 17, 2015. On September 29, 2015, Respondents served Appellant with their Motion to Compel. Respondents took Gregory J. Feldman, M.D.'s deposition on December 16, 2015. Respondents' Requests for Admission were served on Appellant on January 13, 2016, with Appellant's responses provided on February 17, 2016. After negotiations an agreement was reached by the parties respecting discovery and a Consent Order was provided to the Court on February 4, 2016.

A Motion for Summary Judgment was served by Respondents on Appellant on February 11, 2016. Appellant served Respondents with its Amended Responses to Respondents' Requests for Production on March 9, 2016. On March 17, 2016, Appellant's served Respondents with its Second Amended Responses to Respondents' Requests for Production, Second Amended Responses to Respondents' Interrogatories, and Responses to Respondents' Second Requests for Production. Appellant turned over its entire case file, including emails, to Respondents and said documents were sent to a professional legal copying service to be bate-stamped, scanned, and copied onto a disc for ease of production. The service, on behalf of Appellant's, provided Respondents with a disc containing Appellant's documents bate-stamped ABR0001-ABR1282.

Respondents' Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment was served on March 29, 2016. This matter was mediated on April 1, 2016. Appellant's Memorandum in Opposition to Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment was provided to Respondents on April 8, 2016, along with Affidavits by Holly Jo Mann and Gregory J. Feldman, M.D. On June

3, 2016, Appellant was served with Respondents' Reply to Appellant's Memorandum in Opposition to Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment. A hearing was held before the Honorable Perry H. Gravely on June 6, 2016, respecting Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment. The Honorable Perry H. Gravely filed an Order granting Respondents Motion for Summary Judgment on June 29, 2016. It is from the Order of the Honorable Perry H. Gravely entered June 29, 2016, granting Respondents' Motion for Summary of Judgment that Appellant appeals.

## ARGUMENT

### **1. The Court of Common Pleas erred in granting Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment respecting Appellant's claims for Abuse of Process and Malicious Prosecution Causes of Action due to triable issues of disputed facts, including lack of probable cause and Respondents' actions being outside the scope of representations, and Appellant's supporting evidence being sufficient to withstand Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment.**

Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC, which is a South Carolina limited liability corporation. Its Members are Gregory J. Feldman, MD, Joseph A. Boscia, III, MD, Anna Buice, Steve Clemons, and Haley Williams ("ABR"). The Respondents are the Estate of attorney Mike Parham ("Parham") and his law firm, Parham & Smith ("P&S"). This action arises out of alleged conduct by Parham as counsel in a prior lawsuit captioned John L. Bruce and Marilyn Bruce v. Greenville Pharmaceutical Research, Inc. and Alliance Biomedical Group, ("underlying action" or "Bruce litigation") filed on October 20, 2011 in the Court of Common Pleas for Greenville County, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, case number 2011-CP-23-6967. On May 4, 2012, the underlying action ended by a Stipulation of Dismissal with Prejudice of ABR. Appellants' Second Amended Complaint is comprised of two causes of action, abuse of process and malicious prosecution.

The Lower Court was provided with the following facts and citations within the record in opposition to Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment:

Following the pre-suit period of time, on October 20, 2011, Parham signed and filed the underlying litigation. (R. p 27, ¶ 11) (R. pp. 14-18)

In the Bruce litigation, John L. Bruce and Marilyn Bruce ("Bruces"), through their attorney, Parham, alleged that Greenville Pharmaceutical Research, Inc. ("GPR") and Alliance Biomedical

Research Group, LLC, failed “to possess the degree of care, competence and skill ordinarily and customarily possessed by similar healthcare providers in similar circumstances or failing to exercise that degree of care, competence and skill ordinarily and customarily exercised by similar health-care providers under similar circumstances and in deviating from ordinary and customary standards of medical care”, and acted in a fashion of “negligence, carelessness, recklessness, willfulness and wantonness”, which caused the Plaintiffs to suffer real and immediate injury. (R. p. 27, ¶ 12) (R. pp. 14-18)

Within the underlying action, Parham alleged on behalf of the Bruces: “Upon information and belief, Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC, is a corporation whose principal place of business is in the County of Spartanburg, State of South Carolina. Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC is the parent company of Greenville Pharmaceutical Research, Inc. At all times herein mentioned, the Defendant Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC, acted by and through its subsidiary Greenville Pharmaceutical Research, Inc. together with its servants, agents and employees.” (R. p. 27, ¶ 13) (R. pp. 14-18)

Parham sought actual and punitive damages arising out of the underlying action for the Bruces against Appellant for GPR’s alleged conduct. (R. p. 27, ¶ 14) (R. pp. 14-18)

On April 16, 2012, Mr. Bruce testified in his deposition within the underlying action that he had never spoken with anyone from the Appellant; did not know of any meetings with anyone from the Appellant; and had never had contact with anyone from the Appellant. (R. p. 28, ¶ 15) (R. p. 294, p. 19, lines 3-23)

The underlying litigation was purely at the insistence of Parham, as his client in the underlying case had no knowledge of the Appellant. (R. p. 28, ¶ 16) (R. p. 294, p. 19, lines 3-23)

Prior to the suit being filed, Parham was placed on notice by GPR's attorney that there was a complete lack of ownership between GPR and the Appellant. (R. p. 28, ¶ 17) (R. pp. 99-101)

Filing suit against the Appellant was merely an effort to include another party, irrespective of the lack of liability, to have leverage against GPR in an effort to overcome its meritorious defenses. (R. p. 28, ¶ 18) (R. p. 320, p. 86, line 15-p. 87, line 4)

In response to the underlying action, the Appellant filed a Motion to Dismiss on November 17, 2011, which stated that the Bruce litigation failed to state a cause of action. (R. p. 28, ¶ 19) (R. pp. 19-20)

As a result of the Motion to Dismiss, Parham was reminded, yet again, that he had included a party without any business relationship with his client. (R. p. 28, ¶ 20) (R. p. 19-20)

Appellant's Answer, filed on November 23, 2011, further placed Parham on notice that there was a complete absence of liability on the part of the Appellant due to a lack of ownership by the Appellant of GPR, not business relationship of any kind with his client. (R. p. 28, ¶ 21) (R. pp. 21-23)

Within Appellant's Answer in the Bruce litigation, the Appellant reaffirmed the absence of any relationship between itself and GPR nor business relationship with his clients. (R. p. 28, ¶ 22) (R. pp. 21-23)

On November 10, 2011, the Appellant served Interrogatory Answers clearly stating that "Defendant Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC has no knowledge of Plaintiffs John L. Bruce and/or Marilyn Bruce". (R. p. 29, ¶ 23)(R. pp. 504-512)

Further, the Appellant's Interrogatory answers stated that:

"Defendant Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC has knowledge that Greenville Pharmaceutical Research, Inc. is a South Carolina corporation, duly registered with the Secretary

of State. Defendant Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC is a South Carolina limited liability company, duly registered with the Secretary of State. Neither entity has any ownership interest in the other. Defendant Greenville Pharmaceutical Research, Inc. provides no services to Defendant Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC. Defendant Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC provides no training or administrative management services to Defendant Greenville Pharmaceutical Research, Inc. Defendant Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC does provide legal services to Defendant Greenville Pharmaceutical Research, Inc.”

“Defendant Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC has no knowledge of John L. Bruce and thus no physician/patient relationship, no business relationship, nor any relationship, in any form or fashion, existed between the Appellant John L. Bruce and Defendant Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC.” (R. p. 29, ¶ 24)(R. pp. 504-512)

The continuation of the underlying lawsuit against Appellant was done for ulterior purposes to pressure GPR with Parham repeatedly being advised of the deficiencies of the Bruce litigation in that the Appellant had no ownership interest in GPR nor relationship with his clients. (R. p. 29, ¶ 25) (R. p. 320, p. 86, line 15-p. 87, line 4)

Due to the Appellant’s inclusion in the Bruce litigation, it was involved in no less than ten (10) depositions, resulting in time, effort, and costs, including travel costs to and from Florida. (R. p. 29, ¶ 26) (R. pp. 683-688)

On April 16, 2012, Parham further set out his scheme by sending a letter to counsel “to give [them] a heads up” he may be filing a Motion to Amend the Complaint to include a study sponsor and important business partner with GPR. Glaxo-Smith Kline (“GSK”). (R. p. 29, ¶ 27) (R. pp. 559-561)

The letter was an attempt to extort settlement monies by threat to include another innocent third party business partner of GPR and in an effort to coerce Appellant to act upon Parham's behalf. (R. p. 30, ¶ 28) (R. p. 330, p. 129, line 1-p. 130, line 21)

Parham sent the letter with the full knowledge that John Bruce was never accepted as a volunteer for a GSK research study; that John Bruce "screen failed" and thus never participated in the GSK study at issue, never had any procedures performed and never took the GSK study medicine. (R. p. 30, ¶ 29) (R. p. 276, p. 39, lines 7-10)

Parham's letter was sent as a threat in order to extort monies from the Appellant and GPR by intentionally interfering with a business relationship between GPR and GSK, an innocent third party, in order to blackmail a settlement from GPR. (R. p. 30, ¶ 30) (R. p. 330, p. 129, line 1-R. p. 331, p. 130, line 21)

Parham instituted and/or continued the underlying judicial proceeding in instituting such proceeding and by a lack of probable cause, which resulted in injury and/or damage to the Appellant. (R. p. 30, ¶ 31) (R. p. 327, p. 114, lines 6-24)

Once Parham recognized that Appellant would not be extorted into a nuisance settlement or that his efforts would not affect the GPR case, he dismissed this Appellant from the lawsuit, turning his attention to different tactics to apply pressure to GPR and the owners of Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC. (R. p. 30, ¶ 34) (R. p. 24)(R. pp. 559-561)

The Bruce litigation terminated in the favor of the Appellant on May 4, 2012, by a Stipulation of Dismissal with Prejudice. (R. p. 30, ¶ 35) (R. p. 24)

Parham brought suit against the Appellant in an effort to affect the litigation as it concerned GPR. (R. p. 31, ¶ 36) (R. p. 320, p. 86, line 15-p. 87, line 4).

The inclusion of Appellant in the underlying lawsuit was intended to apply pressure towards the owners of GPR because of the overlap of some individual owners between the two entities and affect the outcome of the claims against GPR. (R. p. 31, ¶ 37) (R. p. 320, p. 86, line 15-p. 87, line 4)

At all times material, the lawsuit against Appellant was a sham and never intended to establish liability against Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC. (R. p. 31, ¶ 38) (R. p. 327, p. 114, line 6-line 24)

Parham lacked probable cause in initiating the lawsuit and possessed a reckless indifference at the inception of the lawsuit by his failure in determining the association between the entities. (R. p. 31, ¶ 39) (R. pp. 99-101)

Parham was informed prior to the filing of the underlying lawsuit, and was repeatedly put on notice, that the Appellant did not carry liability insurance. (R. p. 31, ¶ 40) (R. p. 99-101) (R. pp. 504-512)

As such, the owners were fully and wholly responsible and liable to cover the litigation expenses, which Parham willingly used to cause an economic drain and thereby serving as economic coercion on the Appellant's owners to settle, regardless of liability. (R. p. 31, ¶ 41) (R. pp. 99-101)

Parham was driven by greed for his own monetary gain because of the contingency fee contract with his client. (R. p. 31, ¶ 42) (R. p. 320, p. 86, line 15-p. 87, line 4)

Filing suit against the Appellant was purely a scheme to include an innocent party in an effort to extract money for the benefit of his own personal gain by attempting to affect another Defendant. (R. p. 31, ¶ 43) (R. p. 320, p. 86, line 15-p. 87, line 4)

“Summary judgment is a drastic remedy, which should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues.” *Thomas Sand Co. v. Colonial Pipeline Co.*, 563 S.E.2d 109, 112 (S.C. Ct. App. 2002). Summary Judgment is appropriate when it is clear from the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, along with any affidavits, there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *BPS, Inc. v. Worthy*, 608 S.E.2d 155 (S.C.App. 2005); *Belton v. Cincinnati Inc. Co.*, 360 S.C. 575, 602 S.E.2d 389 (2004); *McCall v. State Farm Mut Auto Ins. Co.*, 359 S.C. 372, 597 S.E.2d 181 (Ct.App. 2004); Rule 56(c), SCRCF; *see also Higgins v. Medical Univ. of South Carolina*, 326 S.C. 592, 486 S.E.2d 269 (Ct.App. 1997) (noting that when ruling on motion for summary judgment, trial judge must consider all of the documents and evidence within the record, including pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, admissions on file, and affidavits.) “Under Rule 56(c), the party seeking summary judgment has the initial burden of proof of demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.” *Lanham v. Blue Cross and Blue Shield of South Carolina, Inc.*, 563 S.E.2d 331 (S.C. 2002); *Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991).

“In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the trial court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment. *Brockbank v. BestCapital Corp.*, 341 S.C. 372, 534 S.E.2d 688 (2000).” “If triable issues exist, those issues must go to the jury.” *Rothrock v. Copeland*, 305 S.C. 402, 409 S.E.2d 366 (1991). “Summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is a disagreement concerning the conclusion to be drawn from those facts.” *Lanham v. Blue Cross and Blue Shield of South Carolina, Inc.*, 563 S.E.2d 331 (S.C. 2002); *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 341 S.C. 320, 534 S.E.2d 672 (2000).

“In cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Inc.*, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (S.C. 2009). “An appellate court reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56, SCRPC.” *Pallares v. Seinar*, 407 S.C. 359, 756 S.E.2d 128 (S.C., 2014). *Schmidt v. Courtney*, 357 S.C. 310, 592 S.E.2d 326 (Ct.App.2003) held “summary judgment is inappropriate when further development of the facts is desirable to clarify the application of the law or when there is a dispute as to the conclusions and inferences to be drawn from the facts; the purpose of summary judgment is to expedite the disposition of cases which do not require the services of a fact finder.” (quoting, *Pallares v. Seinar*, 407 S.C. 359, 756 S.E.2d 128 (S.C., 2014)).

The elements of abuse of process are an ulterior purpose and a willful act in the use of the process not proper in the conduct of the proceeding. *Huggins v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc.*, 249 S.C. 206, 153 S.E.2d 693 (1967). “The first element, an ‘ulterior purpose,’ exists if the process is used to secure an objective that is ‘not legitimate in the use of the process.’” *Pallares v. Seinar*, 407 S.C. 359, 756 S.E.2d 128 (S.C., 2014). “The second element, a ‘willful act,’ has been described as ‘[s]ome definite act or threat not authorized by the process or aimed at an object not legitimate in the use of the process[.]’ [*Hainer v. American Medical Intern, Inc.*, 492 S.E.2d 103, 107, 328 S.C. 128, 136 (S.C., 1997).] The ‘willful act’ element consists of three components: (1) a ‘willful or overt act’; (2) ‘in the use of the process’; (3) ‘that is improper because it is either (a) unauthorized or (b) aimed at an illegitimate collateral objective. *Food Lion, Inc. v. United Food & Commercial Workers Inter. Union*, 567 S.E. 2d 251, 254 351 S.C. 65, 71 (S.C.App. 2002)] (citations omitted).” *Id.*

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