THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY
In The Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

Honorable Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

MAR 22 2017

Appellate Case No. 2016-001525 SC Court of Appeals

Trial Court Case No. 2014-CP-39-350

Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC Appellant,

v.

Judith H. Parham, Personal Representative of
the Estate of David Michael Parham, deceased
and Parham & Smith, LLC Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

M. Dawes Cooke, Esq.
Jeffrey M. Bogdan, Esq.
Barnwell Whaley Patterson & Helms, LLC
P. O. Drawer H
Charleston, SC 29402
(843) 577-7700
Attorneys for Respondent

March 21, 2017
Charleston, South Carolina

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

The portion of the deposition of John Bruce from the Bruce Litigation on which Alliance relies reads as follows:

Q: Now, there's a company called Alliance Biomedical Group. Do you recall ever talking with anyone from a group named Alliance Biomedical Group?

A: No, sir.

Q: If you met somebody that worked with that group, you don't know it, do you?

A: No, sir, I don't.

(Dep. of John L. Bruce taken April 16, 2012 in the Bruce Litigation) (R. p. 294).

Judge Gravely's Order focused solely on Alliance's failure to present any evidence to clear its threshold burden of proving that Defendants acted outside of the scope of their representation of John Bruce and Marilyn Bruce and found that "Alliance has not identified or produced one piece of evidence to show that Defendants were acting outside of the scope of their professional representation of the Bruces" and that "Alliance did not even attempt to uncover any evidence." (6/29/16 Order at p.4) (R. p. 11). Judge Gravely specifically analyzed John Bruce's deposition testimony from the Bruce Litigation, which Alliance leans on as evidence to meet its threshold burden, and found that it "is a far cry from evidence that Defendants were acting outside of the

scope of their representation of the Bruces when they included Alliance as a Defendant in the Bruce Litigation.” (Id.) Judge Gravely succinctly summarized his ruling by finding that Alliance “has not advanced any evidence to show that Defendants were doing anything other than attempting to gain leverage for a larger settlement for the Bruces and, even if Defendants did not have probable cause to asset claims against Alliance in the Bruce Litigation, that is not a basis for Alliance’s current claim under the Gaar analysis.” (Id. at pp.4-5) (R. pp. 11-12). Finally, Judge Gravely noted that Alliance failed to pursue the available remedies of seeking sanctions against the Defendants under Rule 11 or the South Carolina Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act. (Id. at p.5) (R. p. 12). Indeed, apart from its conclusory claim that the Defendants acted out of greedy self-interest, the Second Amended Complaint does not even allege facts from which one can possibly conclude that Attorney Parham was motivated or was acting other than in his capacity as the Bruces’ attorney.

B. Alliance’s Argument on Appeal

The vast majority of Alliance’s Appellate Brief mirrors its Memorandum in Opposition to Summary Judgment and its Second Amended Complaint, in that it copies the allegations of the Second Amended Complaint and includes citations to documents that Alliance claims supports those allegations. (Compare 11/3/14 Alliance’s 2nd Am. Compl. at ¶¶11-53 (R. pp. 27-33) to 4/8/16 Alliance’s Mem. Opp. Summ. J. pp. 4-15 (R. pp. 248-259) and Alliance’s App. Brief pp. 5-13). The only differences between pages 5-13 of Alliance’s Appellate Brief and its Summary Judgment brief are that Alliance changed the word “Plaintiff” to “Appellant” and removed the paragraph numbers that correspond to the Second Amended Complaint.

Alliance does not attempt to distinguish Stiles, Gaar, or Argoe, or argue that it does not have to meet a threshold burden prior to reaching the merits of its causes of action. Instead, Alliance singles out one excerpt from Argoe, which stands for the proposition that an attorney is immune from liability to a third person for acts arising from the performance of his professional duties on behalf of “and with the knowledge of his client.” Alliance then argues that John Bruce’s deposition testimony from the Bruce Litigation and the fact that John Bruce did not sign a Verification to the Complaint⁵ in the Bruce Litigation is at least a scintilla of evidence that Defendants “were acting outside of the scope of their representation” (Alliance’s App. Brief, p. 15) and acted “neither in good faith nor with the authority of their client.” (Alliance’s App. Brief, p. 17)

C. Defendants’ Response

1. ALLIANCE ADOPTS TOO NARROW AN INTERPRETATION OF STILES, GAAR, AND ARGOE

Alliance appears to argue that it can satisfy its threshold burden under Stiles, Garr, and Argoe simply by proving that Defendants named Alliance in the Bruce Litigation without their clients’ specific knowledge. That is a misreading of these cases. The Gaar Court succinctly noted that so long as the attorney is acting for the primary purpose of aiding his client in prosecuting the client’s claim, the attorney cannot be liable to an affected third party: “Even if the attorney who initiates civil proceedings for his client has no probable cause of do so, he is still not liable if he acts primarily for the purpose of aiding his client in obtaining a proper adjudication of the client’s claim.” Gaar, 287 S.C at 529, 339 S.E.2d at 889. None of these cases stand for the proposition that the client must have expressly authorized the specific act on which the plaintiff bases its claim.

⁵ This is the first time that Alliance argued that John Bruce’s failure to sign a verification of the Complaint in the Bruce Litigation should be considered as evidence that Alliance cleared its threshold burden. This argument is not preserved for review. Hill v. South Carolina Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control, 389 S.C. 1, 21, 698 S.E.2d 612, 623 (2010).

Alliance's threshold burden is to present evidence showing that Defendants were acting in some way other than to aid John Bruce and Marilyn Bruce, not just that they acted without their specific knowledge and consent. Alliance did not present any such evidence at the summary judgment stage, and has not done so here. The Second Amended Complaint itself makes it clear that Defendants were acting on their clients' behalf; it alleges no facts from which one can reasonably infer that the Defendants were acting without their clients' knowledge and consent. Accordingly, Defendants respectfully request that this Court affirm the grant of summary judgment.

2. ALLIANCE HAS NOT PRODUCED ANY EVIDENCE THAT DEFENDANTS WERE ACTING OUTSIDE OF THE SCOPE OF THEIR REPRESENTATION OR WITHOUT THE KNOWLEDGE OF JOHN BRUCE AND MARILYN BRUCE

Even if Alliance's narrow reading of Stiles, Gaar, and Argoe is correct such that Alliance can meet its threshold burden by simply presenting evidence that Defendants added Alliance to the Bruce Litigation without the express knowledge of John Bruce and Marilyn Bruce, Alliance has failed to even present that evidence. Alliance points only to the deposition of John Bruce in the Bruce Litigation as evidence that the Defendants acted without the knowledge of their clients. First, the Defendants' clients in the Bruce Litigation were both John Bruce and Marilyn Bruce. (Complaint in Bruce Litigation) (R. pp. 14-18). Even if John Bruce's deposition testimony is evidence that he did not know that the Defendants named Alliance in the Bruce Litigation or that he did not consent in naming them, which it is not, it is surely not evidence that Defendants acted in any way without Marilyn Bruce's knowledge or consent. At the hearing on Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, Alliance admitted that it did not take Marilyn Bruce's deposition, but suggested that Defendants should have submitted her affidavit stating that she did know that Alliance was being sued. (6/6/16 Hearing Tr. 28:25-29:13) (R. pp. 499-500). It is Alliance's burden to present evidence to satisfy its threshold burden.

More importantly, as Judge Gravely held, John Bruce's deposition testimony in the Bruce Litigation is a "far cry from evidence that Defendants were acting outside of the scope of their representation of the Bruces when they included Alliance as a Defendant in the Bruce Litigation." (Order p. 4) (R. p. 11). John Bruce's deposition testimony is not even evidence that John Bruce was unaware that the Defendants included Alliance as a defendant in the Bruce Litigation. John Bruce testified that he did not recall ever talking with anyone from "Alliance Biomedical Group" and that he was unaware if he ever met someone who worked for "Alliance Biomedical Group." Importantly, Alliance Biomedical Group is not the Plaintiff or the Appellant in this case. The Plaintiff/Appellant is "Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC." Mr. Bruce's deposition testimony from the Bruce Litigation is silent on whether he knew who Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC was or if he was aware that they were a defendant in his litigation.

Further to this point, even if Mr. Bruce did testify that he did not recall talking to anyone with Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC or that he was unaware if he ever met someone who worked for Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC, which he did not, such testimony still would not be evidence that John Bruce was unaware that Defendants included Alliance Biomedical Research as a defendant in the Bruce Litigation. Mr. Bruce could have been well aware that Alliance Biomedical Research, LLC was a defendant in his case, but still testified that he did not recall talking to or knowing anyone that worked there. Mr. Bruce's lack of recollection of speaking to anyone or knowing anyone who worked for any Alliance-related entity is not probative of anything of relevance in this case.

Finally, Alliance has not presented any evidence to meet its actual threshold burden of proving that the Defendants acted outside of the scope of their representation of the Bruces. Dr. Feldman was clear in his deposition that Alliance has no evidence that the Defendants acted outside

of the scope of their representation, or acted in their own interests, when they named Alliance as a Defendant in the Bruce Litigation, but assured that he would find such evidence in discovery. (Feldman Depo 100:13-101:12; 140:14-141:12) (R. pp. 323, 333). Alliance never conducted any discovery in this case, and thus never even attempted to find the evidence that Dr. Feldman insisted he would.

3. ALLOWING ALLIANCE TO SUE THE DEFENDANTS WOULD HAVE A CHILLING EFFECT ON THE ENTIRE PRACTICE OF LAW

Alliance attempts to create the standard that an attorney is liable for any actions he takes in representing his client of which the client does not have specific knowledge. As stated in Section II.C.1, supra, Alliance's position is simply not a correct interpretation of the law. Clearly the narrow immunity exception that the Supreme Court described in Stiles is intended to permit suit against a lawyer for whom his ostensible representation of his client was but a pretext to carry out his personal agenda against the plaintiff. This case – even as alleged in Alliance's Second Amended Complaint is far from that situation. Indeed, the Second Amended Complaint goes so far as to allege that everything that the Defendants did was in furtherance of their representation of their client. (11/3/14 Alliance's 2nd Am. Compl. at ¶6) (R. p. 26). To require, as a condition of asserting immunity from suit, that the lawyer prove that his client specifically knew of and approved everything he did, would effectively write the immunity out of existence. It is not reasonable to think that a client will have actual and specific knowledge of every single act that his/her attorney performs on his behalf. In this case, specifically, there is no reason to believe that the Bruces would not want the Defendants to name as a party any entity that might have liability for their injuries. So long as the Defendants named the party for the purpose of pursuing their client's claim, and not for any personal motivation, the client's specific knowledge of the party is not necessary.

To allow the attorney to be liable to the party if it turns out that it is not a proper defendant would result in attorneys across the state being wary about filing meritorious cases on behalf of their deserving clients out of fear of the attorney's own exposure. This chilling effect was recognized by the Gaar Court:

Attorneys must be free to act and advise their clients without constant fear of harassment from lawsuits. An attorney has an ethical obligation zealously to pursue any lawful claim of his client. If he does not properly represent and support his client's position, an attorney is subject to a suit for malpractice. To hold that an attorney who files a pleading has acted overzealously, and is therefore liable to the other party in damages for malicious prosecution, would create a conflict of interest with the attorney's obligation to properly represent and support his client.

287 S.C. at 529, 339 S.E.2d at 889-90 (internal citations omitted).

Here, the only evidence in the record shows that the Defendants named both GPR and Alliance in the Bruce Litigation because of their belief that Alliance was GPR's parent company, and therefore liable for GPR's negligence. Alliance's counsel even admitted that Defendants' belief was not unreasonable. In an email sent to Dr. Feldman after Alliance was named as a defendant to the Bruce Litigation, Alliance's counsel represented that "the 'Alliance' website has created an inference that [Alliance] has an ownership interest in GPR." (3/19/12 email from M. Mann to G. Feldman) (R. p. 567). To now hold Defendants liable to Alliance for including it as a defendant in the Bruce Litigation, when Alliance's own counsel conceded that Defendants had a reasonable basis to do so, would be unjust.

Alliance also ignores Judge Gravely's finding that it had valid avenues of relief against Defendants which it did not pursue. This finding is also supported by Gaar:

The attorneys acted solely in their capacity as attorneys to bring the lawsuit, and did not become parties to the suit. . . . This does not leave the plaintiff without a remedy. If the appropriate elements are demonstrated, the other party is subject to disciplinary proceedings if he knowingly pursues a claim when it is obvious such action will merely harass or maliciously injure another, or if he knowingly and in bad faith advances an unwarranted claim. A client subjected to a malicious

prosecution suit may be able to sue his attorney for legal malpractice if the attorney negligently files an unwarranted claim.

287 S.C at 529-30, 339 S.E.2d at 889-90 (internal citation omitted).

Here, Alliance had the option of suing John Bruce and Marilyn Bruce for abuse of process and malicious prosecution. If that suit was successful and John Bruce and Marilyn Bruce faced exposure because of the Defendants' conduct, the Bruces could have then brought a malpractice suit against Defendants. Alliance however chose not to sue the Bruces and instead sued the Defendants directly. Further, Alliance could have but chose not to initiate sanctions proceedings against Defendants under Rule 11 of the South Carolina Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act, either of which, if meritorious, could have compensated Alliance for its claimed damages. Judge Gravely questioned Alliance at the summary judgment hearing as to why it did not file for sanctions. Alliance's response was simply that it considered filing for sanctions, but chose to file this case instead. (6/6/16 Hearing Tr. 21:4-22:15) (R. p. 492-493).

Despite other routes, Alliance chose the one avenue to recovery that was blocked by Stiles, Gaar, and Argoe. Defendants requests that this Court affirm summary judgment.

III. ALLIANCE'S ARGUMENTS THAT IT PRESENTED EVIDENCE SUFFICIENT TO RAISE A QUESTION OF FACT ON THE MERITS OF ITS ABUSE OF PROCESS AND MALICIOUS PROSECUTION CLAIMS ARE NOT PRESERVED FOR REVIEW BUT, IF THEY WERE, NO SUCH EVIDENCE HAS BEEN PRESENTED

“[T]o preserve an issue for appellate review, a matter may not be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been *both* raised to *and ruled upon* by the trial court.” Hill v. South Carolina Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 389 S.C. 1, 21, 698 S.E.2d 612, 623 (2010) (emphasis added) (citing Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731 (1998)). “[A] party *must file a motion to alter or amend* when an issue has been raised, but not ruled upon, in order to preserve it for review.” Id. (emphasis added).

Judge Gravely's Order granting Defendants summary judgment did not rule on, or even discuss the merits of either of Alliance's Abuse of Process or Malicious Prosecution causes of action because, as addressed above, he properly disposed of the entire case on the threshold immunity issue. Alliance did not file a motion to alter or amend Judge Gravely's order to obtain a ruling on the merits of its specific causes of action. Alliance now attempts to argue that it presented a scintilla of evidence to allow its Abuse of Process and Malicious Prosecution claims to survive summary judgment. These arguments are not preserved for this Court's review. Id.

Regardless, Alliance has not presented any evidence, and does not even point to evidence in its appellate brief, that could satisfy the elements of either tort. Instead, the evidence on the record actually disproves each cause of action.

1. ABUSE OF PROCESS

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